1999

Jayni Searle v. Boyd Searle : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

FOR THE STATE OF UTAH

Priority 4

deference to the trial court. Marquilles By and Through Marquilles v. Upchurch, 696 P.2d 1195, 1199-1200 (Utah 1985).

II. Did the Trial Court err when it determined that the Tribal Court's May 22, 1998 Order, which transferred custody, lacked due process with respect to Appellee? This issue presents a question of law that does not require deference to the trial court.

Marquilles By and Through Marquilles v. Upchurch, 696 P.2d 1195, 1199-1200 (Utah 1985).

STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

Appellant believes the following statutes and constitutional provisions are determinative of this appeal.

Constitutional Provisions

U.S. Const., Amend. 5, 14

Utah Const. Art. 1, §7

Utah Const. Art. 1, §24.

Statutory Provisions

25 U.S.C. 1914

UTAH CODE ANNO. § 30-6-4.2 & 4.3 (1999)

UTAH CODE ANN. §78-22a-1 *et. seq.* (1999)

UTAH CODE ANNO. §78-22a-2(2) (1999)

UTAH CODE ANNO. §78-22a-3 (1999)

UTAH CODE ANNO. §78-22a-3(2) (1999)

UTAH CODE ANNO. §78-22a-6 (1999)

Rules of Procedure

Rule 4-501(3)(A) of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration

Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

Rule 65A of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

Rule 37 of the Utah Rules of Juvenile Procedure

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS

Overview:

An Action was commenced on May 28, 1998 in the Third District Court (herein after "District Court") to enforce a May 22, 1998 Order from the Fort Peck Assiniboine and Sioux Tribal Court (herein after "Tribal Court"), the Honorable Judge Timothy Hanson presiding. The May 22, 1998 Tribal Court Order was entered after jurisdiction over an action was transferred pursuant to the Indian Child Welfare Act by the Third District Juvenile Court (herein after "Juvenile Court").

Background:

Appellee commenced suit in the Juvenile Court against Appellant in February of 1998, seeking termination of Appellant's parental rights. (See **R. at 326-27**). Appellant is the natural mother of Chad Searle ("Chad"). (See **R. at 326**). Appellees filed an Ex Parte Motion for Temporary Custody in the Juvenile Court, prior to serving Appellant with the Petition to Terminate Appellant's Rights (herein "Termination Petition"). (See **R. at 326-27**). On or about the 3rd day of March, 1999, the Juvenile

Court entered an ex parte Order granting temporary custody of Chad to Appellee. (See **R. at 326-27**).

On or about March 19, 1998, pursuant to the section 104 of the Indian Child Welfare Act, a Petition to Invalidate and Vacate the Ex Parte Custody Order (herein after "Invalidation Petition") was filed in the Third District Juvenile Court by Appellant. (See **R. at 327**). The Petition sought to vacate the March 3, 1998 Juvenile Court Ex Parte Order of temporary custody. (See **R. at 328**).

Appellant also filed a Petition to Transfer (herein after "Transfer Petition") the Juvenile Court matter to Tribal Court. (See **R. at 327**). In April of 1998, Appellee and Appellant agreed that the issues raised in the Invalidation Petition could be determined by the Court with jurisdiction after the Juvenile Court ruled on jurisdictional issues in the Transfer Petition. (See **R. at 357 (paragraph 4)**). The Juvenile Court, the Tribal Court, and the Fort Peck Tribes, were never notified of nor privy to this agreement between the Appellant and Appellee. (See **R. at 357 (paragraph 4)**). Jurisdiction over the Juvenile Court action was transferred from the Juvenile Court to the Tribal Court pursuant to an order entered on May 15, 1998. (See **R. at 6 & Addenda "A"**).

On May 22, 1999, the Fort Peck Tribal Court accepted jurisdiction and transferred placement of Chad to the reservation

and temporary custody to Appellant. (See **R. at 9 & Addenda "B"**). On or about May 28, 1998, Appellant filed a Petition for Writ of Assistance in the District Court seeking to enforce the Tribal Court May 22, 1998 Order. (See **R. at 1 & Addenda "C"**). Attached to the Petition for Writ of Assistance was a certified copy of the May 22, 1998 Tribal Court Order granting Appellant temporary custody. (See **R. at 9**). The District Court scheduled and held a telephonic hearing on June 2, 1998, Judge Timothy Hanson presiding. (See **R. at 11**). Present telephonically at the hearing were: Appellant's counsel, Jim C. Shirley; and Appellee's counsel, Maria C. Santana. (See **R. at 11**). The Court indicated that it would issue the Writ of Assistance unless Appellee sought and obtained the assistance of another Court to stay the Writ of Assistance. (See **R. at 11**).

On June 3, 1998, the Juvenile Court, Judge Olof A. Johansson presiding, issued a stay of its May 15, 1998 order. (See **R. at 328**). Appellant's counsel contacted the Third District Court and informed the Court Clerk that Appellant would not execute on the Writ of Assistance pending a resolution of the Juvenile Court's June 3, 1998 Stay. (See **R. at 55-56**).

On June 8, 1998, a telephonic hearing was held before the Juvenile Court, Judge Olof A. Johansson presiding. (See **R. at 328**). Jointly with the Juvenile Court hearing, a telephonic hearing was also held before the Tribal Court, Judge A.T. Stafni

presiding. (See **R. at 328**). The hearings were telephonically held so that both Courts and all counsel could participate. Appellant's counsel and Appellee's counsel were both present in person at the Juvenile Court site. Gary Beaudry, counsel for the Tribes, was present at the Tribal Court site. (See **R. at 211**).

Counsel were allowed to address both Courts. (See **R. at 211**). Both Courts stated their respective positions. When it became clear that the Court's could not resolve their respective positions, the Juvenile Court stayed the May 15, 1998 order pending review by a "higher court." (See **R. at 328**). The Tribal Court also stayed its order pending review by a "higher court." (See **R. at 328**).

Appellant filed a Petition for Extraordinary Relief seeking review of the Juvenile Court's June 8, 1998 Stay (Case No. 981352-CA). This Court vacated the Juvenile Court's Stay on September 1, 1998. (See **R. at 110**). The litigation resumed in the Fort Peck Tribal Court. On September 8, 1998, Appellant filed a Petition for Custody. (See **R. at 329**). The Petition for Custody was served upon Appellee's counsel pursuant to the Tribal Court's Rules of Civil Procedure (and Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure). (See **R. at 329**). On September, 9, 1998, the Fort Peck Tribal Court dismissed the Petition for Termination of Parental Rights pursuant to Appellee's request and Appellant's stipulation (however the Tribal Court retained

jurisdiction over the custody matters pending before in Appellant's Petition for Sole Custody. (See **R. at 329**).

On September 10, 1998, Appellant moved that the District Court issue a Writ of Assistance. (See **R. at 55-56**). Appellee filed a Notice of Appeal seeking review of the May 15, 1998 Juvenile Court Order (which transferred jurisdiction).¹ (See **R. at 68**). On September 16, 1998, the District Court sent a letter to the parties stating that it would hold off decision pending the appeal filed by Appellee regarding the May 15, 1998 Juvenile Court Order transferring jurisdiction. (See **R. at 55-56**).

On October 16, 1999, the Fort Peck Tribal Court granted a default judgment in favor of Appellant on her September 8, 1998 Petition for Sole Custody. (See **R. at 322-324**). On November 19, 1999, the Fort Peck Tribal Court held an Order to Show Cause hearing. (See **R. at 326-333**). Appellee failed to appear for the hearing after being served with notice to appear pursuant to the Tribal Court's Order. (See **R. at 326-333**). The Tribal Court held Appellee in contempt and ordered the child returned to the reservation in its November 23, 1998 Order on the Order to Show Cause. (See **R. at 326-333**).

On December 12, 1999, the Supreme Court dismissed the appeal

¹ Appellee also served a Petition for Extraordinary Relief against Judge Hanson of the District Court upon Appellant, but did not file the same or serve the Court with the same. (See **R. at 55-56**).

filed by Appellee regarding the Juvenile Court's May 15, 1998 order. (See **R. at 146**). On December 18, 1999, Appellant requested issuance of a Writ by the District Court. (See **R. at 153-150**). The Court scheduled a hearing on February 5, 1999. (See **R. at 206**). The hearing was rescheduled several times and was finally held on March 8, 1999. (See **R. at 206-334**).

No evidence was taken. Only argument was offered. See **Transcript**. First, the Court found that the Petition for Writ of Assistance did not comply with the provisions of the Utah Foreign Judgment Act. (See **Transcript at page 32 lines 19-20**). The Court indicated that the sole method of enforcement was through the Foreign Judgment Act. (See **Transcript at page 32 lines 3-5**). Second, the Court found that the May 22, 1999 order could not be enforced because the order lacked due process. (See **Transcript at page 33 lines 4-8**). The Court based this lack of due process finding on the fact that the order was issued Ex Parte on May 22, 1998 (i.e. Appellee did not receive notice of the Fort Peck Tribes' Motion and, therefore, were not heard at the ex parte hearing). (See **Transcript at page 33 lines 4-8**). An order was entered on July 26, 1999 by the District Court on the March 10, 1999 hearing. (See **R at 453-57**).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Method of Enforcement: The District Court ruled that the

only method of enforcement of a Foreign Judgment is through the process outlined under the Utah Foreign Judgment Act. Contrary to the District Court's ruling, UTAH CODE ANNO. §78-22a-6 (1999 (entitled Optional Procedure) provides that the Foreign Judgment Act (Utah Code Anno. §78-22a-1 et. seq. (1999)) does not "impair a judgment creditor's right to bring an action in this state to enforce" a foreign judgment. Appellant simply filed an action to enforce the custody order of a foreign jurisdiction as is provided for in the Foreign Judgment Act. Additionally, Appellee was provided all the procedural protections that are allowed under the Foreign Judgment Act.

Due Process: The District Court ruled that the Tribal Court May 22, 1998 Order lacked due process in that Appellee was entitled to notice prior to the Tribal Court's decision. Contrary to the District Court's finding, Appellee was granted due process. First, Appellee had ample notice of the Invalidation Petition which requested that the March 3, 1998 Ex Parte Juvenile Court Order which granted temporary custody to Appellee be vacated. The Tribal Court had jurisdiction and a duty to immediately vacate the Juvenile Court's March 3, 1998 Order. (See 25 U.S.C. 1914).

Second, Appellee was afforded an opportunity for a hearing in which Appellee could contest the Order. On June 8, 1998, such a hearing was held. On June 8, 1998, the Tribal Court even

stayed its order, inviting a review by a "Higher Court. The subsequent hearing complied with the general requirements for such an order (i.e. that any ex parte order must be followed by a hearing on the Motion that resulted in the order). Appellee's chose not to contest the Order through an appeal to the Tribal Court's Appellate Court or renew a fight for custody. Additionally, Appellee chose not to contest the subsequent custody action in Tribal Court, which resulted in a permanent custody order. Appellee had due process, but chose not to avail himself of the process provided.

ARGUMENT

A. FOREIGN JUDGMENT ACT COMPLIANCE

The District Court ruled that the only way to enforce a foreign judgment was through the Foreign Judgment Act. Additionally, the District Court Ruled that Appellant had failed to comply with the provisions of the Foreign Judgment Act. Both of these rulings are erroneous in that there are alternatives to the Foreign Judgment Acts provisions and Appellant substantially complied with the Foreign Judgment Acts' provisions.

1. Alternatives to the Foreign Judgment Act

UTAH CODE ANNO. §78-22a-6 (1999) provides that "this chapter shall not be construed to impair a judgment creditor's right to bring an action in this state to enforce such creditor's

judgment." "The judgment holder still has the option, however, to commence an enforcement action under the older, traditional approach." Pan Energy v. Martin, 813 P.2d 1142, 1143 (Utah 1991). The traditional method of enforcing a judgment was to file an action on the judgment in Utah. Id.

A Petition for Writ of Assistance is an action to enforce the provisions of a judgment in Utah. Under current case law and the statutory constructs of the Foreign Judgment Act, it seems clear that the Petition for Writ of Assistance should have been a viable alternative action to enforce the foreign judgment of the Tribal Court. The Writ of Assistance was an appropriate method in which to address the child custody issue which was involved in the enforcement of the Tribal Court's May 22, 1998 Order.

2. Compliance with the Foreign Judgment Act

Contrary to the District Court's Order of Dismissal, the May 22, 1998 Tribal Court Order was domesticated in that an original certified copy was filed with the Clerk of the Court when the Petition for Writ of Assistance was filed. In Holm v. Smilowitz, 840 P.2d 157 , 163 (Utah App. 1992), this Court noted:

The specific language of UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-22a-2(2) (1992) reads: "A copy of the foreign judgment authenticated in accordance with an appropriate act of Congress...may be filed with the clerk of any district court in Utah. ... "The judgment holder still has the option to commence an enforcement action under the older, traditional approach." Footnote 2.

Clearly, Appellant had the option to enforce the action or to register the action in accordance with the Utah Foreign Judgment Act. Unlike the Smilowitz, Appellant filed an authenticated/certified copy of the Order with the Court. Thereby placing before the Court, an order which was registered/domesticated with the Court.

While the District Court did not address exactly how Appellant failed to comply with the Foreign Judgment Act, it is clear that the relevant provisions were substantially complied with through alternative procedures. First, an original certified copy of the judgment was filed as required by UTAH CODE ANNO. §78-22a-2(2) (1999) ("A copy of a foreign judgment authenticated in accordance with an appropriate act of Congress or an appropriate act of Utah may be filed with the clerk of any district court in Utah). (See **R. at 8**). The Tribal Court order was appropriately certified. (See **R. at 8**).

Second, the Appellee was given notice that Appellant was seeking to enforce the judgment in Utah. While this notice did not take place in the method prescribed by UTAH CODE ANNO. §78-22a-3 (1999), such notice was given when, in accordance with Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Appellee's attorney was served with a copy Petition for Writ of Assistance with a copy of the Tribal Court's May 22, 1998 Order attached. (See **R. at 4**). While an affidavit detailing the judgment debtors address was not

submitted as required by UTAH CODE ANNO. §78-22a-3(2) (1999), a cover sheet was filed which detailed the judgment debtor's last known address.

The procedural protections of the Foreign Judgment Act were met. As argued above, the Foreign Judgment Act was not the vehicle for enforcement. However, Appellee was given all the procedural protections of the Foreign Judgment Act, in spite of the Appellant's exercise of the option to pursue an independent action to enforce the judgment. Accordingly, Appellee was not denied any process which was owed under the Foreign Judgment Act.

B. DUE PROCESS AFFORDED

The District Court also ruled that Appellee was not afforded Due Process in that the May 22, 1998 Tribal Court Order was granted without notice to Appellee. This ruling was erroneous.

In reviewing an order under the Foreign Judgment Act, the reviewing Court should look to see if the foreign judgment is valid and final. See Estate of Jones, Matter of, 858 P.2d 983, 985 (Utah 1993) (If the judgment meets the validity and finality criteria, "it is entitled to full faith and credit"). While Estate of Jones dealt with the enforcement of the order under the Foreign Judgment Act, the analysis regarding the viability and enforceability of the foreign order should be basically the same for an enforcement action because the core issues are the same. Appellant would propose that the Court should use such an

analysis in reviewing the District Court's conclusion that the foreign order lacked due process.

The District Court's order addressed only the validity portion of the analysis. However, since both prongs were raised and pled below, Appellant will address both the validity and finality issue as they relate to the Tribal Court's May 22, 1998 Order. As specifically set forth below, the Tribal Court's May 22, 1998 Order is both valid and final.

1. Validity

"In order to be 'valid' for purposes of full faith and credit, a judgment must have been rendered by a court with competent jurisdiction." Estate of Jones, Matter of, 858 P.2d 983, 985 (Utah 1993). If the rendering court had competent jurisdiction, the order must have been issued "in compliance with the constitutional requirements of due process." Estate of Jones, Matter of, 858 P.2d 983, 985 (Utah 1993).

A. Competent Jurisdiction

The original action involving Appellant's custodial rights was commenced in the Juvenile Court by Appellee. Pursuant to relevant provisions of the Indian Child Welfare Act, jurisdiction over the Juvenile Court matter was transferred to the Tribal Court. This issue was litigated to finality in the Utah Court System. Pursuant to the Indian Child Welfare Act, the tribal court is the preferred forum for resolution of custody issues

involving "Indian" children. Adoption of Halloway, Matter of, 732 P.2d 962, 966 (Utah 1986).

The United States Supreme Court has recognized that the determination of the custody of an "Indian" child is "squarely" in the tribal court's hands. Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians v. Holyfield, 490 U.S. 30, 52, 109 S.Ct. 1507, 1610, 104 L.Ed. 2d 29, _____ (1989). Based upon the transfer of jurisdiction under the Indian Child Welfare Act and the above-cited case law, the Tribal Court was a court of competent jurisdiction which had the authority to determine the custody issues involved.

B. Due Process

Based upon the fact that the Tribal Court was a "court of competent jurisdiction," the Court should look to see if the order passed constitutional muster. This Court has previously recognized that the demands of due process rest on the concept of basic fairness of procedure and demand a procedure appropriate to the case and just to the parties involved. Holm v. Smilowitz 840 P.2d 157, 164 (Utah App. 1992) (quoting Wiscombe v. Wiscombe, 744 P.2d 1024, 1025 (Utah App. 1987) (quoting Rupp v. Grantsville City, 610 P.2d 338, 341, (Utah 1980)). "One of the fundamental requisites of due process is the opportunity to be fully heard" and notice. Id. Appellee's due process rights were not violated under Utah State Constitution or under the United States Constitution.

(i) Invalidation Petition

Under Utah law that a judge may enter an order without a hearing where a party was served with a pleading and either fails to respond or fails to file a request for hearing.² Rule 4-501(3)(A) of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration specifically provides that "a decision on a motion shall be rendered without a hearing unless ordered by the Court or requested by the parties." Rule 4-501(3)(F) also provides that a hearing shall be deemed waived if no written request for a hearing is made. Rule 55 allows the Court to enter judgment by default in cases where the responding party fails to respond within the time period allotted.

Under these provisions, the Juvenile Court would have been well within its discretion to rule on the Issues in Appellant's Invalidation Petition at any time subsequent to the lapse of time for a Response because by failing to memorialize the April agreement or by failing to file a Response, Appellee waive his right to a hearing. Additionally, a ruling on Appellant's Invalidation Petition was mandated under Federal Law. See Section 104 of the Indian Child Welfare Act, 25 U.S.C. 1914. Appellee's due process rights would not have been violated if the Juvenile Court had taken such an action. Appellee was served and had an

² See Rule 4-501 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration and Rule 55 of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

opportunity to preserve his rights in relation to the Petition to Invalidate. If the Juvenile Court had done so, Appellee would have been obligated to either file an appeal or move to vacate the order if Appellee wanted relief from such an order.

While in April of 1998, Appellee and Appellant had agreed that a responsive pleading was needed only after the issue of jurisdiction was decided. The agreement was never communicated to the Juvenile Court or the Tribal Court by either party.³ The Juvenile Court and, subsequently, the Tribal Court were not bound by the un-memorialized agreement.

The Juvenile Court could have disposed of the Invalidation Petition at any time. The Juvenile Court could have made a ruling either granting or denying the Motion without a hearing under Rule 4-501 or Rule 55. **While the parties would be entitled to notice that the ruling had been issued, the parties were not entitled to notice that the Juvenile Court would be issuing a ruling** because such Notice was provided when the pleading was served.

If the Juvenile Court was entitled to dispose of the Petition to Invalidate as set forth above, the Tribal Court, upon

³ While the parties did agree on May 1, 1998, that the Juvenile Court should only consider the Transfer Petition prior to ruling on any other issues, the parties did not communicate that agreement was reached earlier in April with regard to the Invalidation Petition. The May 1, 1998 only addressed the Transfer Petition.

retaining jurisdiction, clearly acquired the same right. Accordingly, the Tribal Court's May 22, 1998 Order did not lack due process in that Appellee waived any right to a hearing by failing to submit, at the very least, a written or oral request for hearing on the Invalidation Petition. The Tribal Court had a duty under the Indian Child Welfare Act, Section 104, to invalidate and vacate the Juvenile Court's March 3, 1998 Order because it was improperly entered.

A subsequent order from the Tribal Court indicates that the Tribal Court's May 22, 1998 Order involved a decision to invalidate the Juvenile Court's March 3, 1998 Ex Parte Order. (See R. at 327-28). In the Tribal Court's November 23rd, 1998 Order, the Tribal Court found:

16. **Ms. Searle filed a Petition to invalidate the improperly entered custody order, citing to 25 U.S.C. 1914 and alleging violations of 1912(a, d, & e).**

17. Boyd and Dorthy Searle filed a Response to the Amended Petition to Transfer, alleging that domicile had not changed at the death of the emotional father and that Jayni Searle had abandoned the child, Chad Searle.

18. Ms. Searle filed a Reply which cited to case law which demonstrated that under common law domicile did change at the death of a custodian to the surviving natural parent and which alleged grounds to demonstrate that Ms. Searle had not abandoned the child.

19. On May 15th, 1998, the Third District Juvenile Court, in and for the state of Utah issued an order transferring jurisdiction to tribal court.

20. On May 22nd, 1998, this Court found that it is has

exclusive jurisdiction and accepted jurisdiction. Additionally, **the Court invalidated the previous order granting custody to Boyd and Dorothy Searle and ordered that the child be brought back to the reservation and placed in the custody of the natural mother.** (See R. at 327-28). Emphasis added.

The District Court had this evidence before it, but did not consider this evidence in making its ruling. This evidence was entitled to Full Faith and Credit. Rather than considering the evidence, the District Court did not look at the surrounding circumstances at the entry of the Tribal Court's May 22, 1998 Order. The District Court limited itself to the May 22, 1998 Order. (See Transcript Page 17 at 5-8).

However, a full review of the facts before the Court, the Tribal Court's order did not lack due process because Appellee had notice of the Invalidation Petition and had an opportunity to be heard on the issues raised therein. The subsequent orders should have been considered to place a context for the ruling and the facts which were before the Tribal Court.

ii. Notice through the Juvenile Court's May 15, 1998 Order

The Juvenile Court's May 15, 1998 Order also left the discretion over custody with the Tribal Court. (**See R. at 6**).

The Order states as follows:

1. The Verified Petition to Terminate Parental Rights of Jayni Searle is hereby transferred to the Tribal Court, as requested by the mother, for said Court's determination as to whether or not it wishes to exercise jurisdiction over this matter.

2. Pending such a determination by the Tribal Court, this Court directs that its Order of 3-3-98, **placing temporary custody and guardianship of said child with the Petitioners, shall remain in full force and effect, and that said child remain in his current placement until the Tribe makes its determination.** Emphasis added. (See R. at 6).

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