1999

# Jayni Searle v. Boyd Searle : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

### I.

The appeal must be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. This matter involves an appeal of a final order of the Third District Court involving domestication and enforcement of a foreign judgment. The Court of Appeals does not have jurisdiction over this matter. The Utah Supreme Court would have had jurisdiction over this matter under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) had the appeal been timely filed in the Supreme Court.

### II.

The mother's brief should be stricken and the appeal dismissed for noncompliance with Rule 24(a)(5) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure by failing to cite to the record showing preservation in the trial court of each issue presented for review.

### III.

The mother's brief contains factual allegations that should be stricken for failure to cite where they are supported in the record.

### IV.

The mother's Writ of Assistance, by its very language, required compliance with the Foreign Judgment Act. The record is replete with

admissions that she did not comply with the statutory filing requirements and even conceded that the trial court's determination that the Foreign Judgment Act applied was correct. The issues related to the Foreign Judgment Act were not preserved for appellate review as a consequence of her admissions on the record. Moreover, the appeal of this issue is frivolous because the mother admits in her brief that the Foreign Judgment Act was not the vehicle for the enforcement she sought, yet she appeals the trial court's refusal to issue a writ containing language that it was issued pursuant to the Foreign Judgment Act.

## V.

The trial court's determination that due process was violated in relation to the Tribal Court order hinges on the factual finding that the grandfather was not provided any notice of a hearing or that there would be a ruling on custody. This is a mixed question of fact and law rather than a simply question of law as proposed by the mother. The mother's challenge of factual findings should be disregarded because of her failure to marshal the evidence and demonstrate the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding. Even if the mother had marshaled the evidence, the evidence is legally sufficient to support the finding of lack of notice. In the absence of notice, the right to due process has been violated. The appeal is frivolous because the record is replete with the mother's admissions that due process requires notice and that the grandfather was not given notice.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION.

The Court of Appeals does not have jurisdiction over this appeal of a final order of the Third District Court involving domestication and enforcement of a foreign judgment. The mother misstates the Court's jurisdiction in her Jurisdictional Statement asserting that the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction "pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(a) and Rule 3, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure." (**Appellant's Brief, 1**). That subsection of the statute deals exclusively with jurisdiction over final orders or decrees resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings of state agencies or from the district court review of informal adjudicative proceedings of the those agencies. This appeal does not deal with an adjudicative proceeding. Further, Rule 3 confers no jurisdiction on a specific appellate court but provides the procedure by which the notice of appeal allows the appropriate court to take jurisdiction.

It is undisputed that this matter concerns the enforceability of a foreign judgment. The trial court found the action was one to domesticate a foreign judgment, the court clerk designated the action a "special matter," and the mother characterizes her petition as "An Action...to enforce a May 22, 1998 Order from the Fort Peck Assiniboine and Sioux Tribal Court." (**T. 31; R. 9, 11; Appellants' Brief, 3**). The Utah Supreme Court would have had jurisdiction over this matter under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j), because it involves an order

over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction, had the appeal been timely filed in the Supreme Court.

However, the Supreme Court cannot take jurisdiction over an appeal, which is not timely brought before it, and an untimely appeal will be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. *Burgers v. Maiben*, 652 P.2d 1320 (Utah 1982); *Bowen v. Riverton City*, 656 P.2d 434 (Utah 1982); *Nelson v. Stoker*, 669 P.2d 390 (Utah 1983). The thirty day period within which this matter could have been appealed to the Supreme Court pursuant to Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure has expired. Consequently, this appeal is improperly filed in the wrong court and must be dismissed.

## **II. THE MOTHER'S BRIEF SHOULD BE STRICKEN FOR NONCOMPLIANCE WITH RULE 24(a)(5).**

The mother's brief should be stricken and the appeal dismissed for noncompliance with Rule 24(a)(5) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure by failing to cite to the record showing preservation in the trial court of each issue presented for review. The rule expressly mandates:

(a) *Brief of appellant.* The brief of the appellant shall contain under appropriate headings and in the order indicated:

(5) A statement of the issues presented for review, including for each issue: the standard of appellate review with supporting authority; and (A) citation to the record showing that the issue was preserved in the trial court; or (B) a statement of grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved in the trial court.

Rule 24(a)(5), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (Emphasis added.)

The mother's brief contains a statement of the issues presented for review, but does not provide citations to the record demonstrating they were preserved in the trial court or allege alternative grounds for seeking review of issues not preserved. The clear language of the rule makes it mandatory. Neither the Appellate Court nor the opposing party should bear the burden of fleshing out the record to determine the issues were properly raised and litigated or that timely objections and motions were made as required. *State v. Whittle*, 780 P.2d 819, 120-21 (Utah 1989) (specific and timely objections must be made before the lower court and then identified for the appellate court.). Consequently, the mother's brief is defective and should be stricken.

### **III. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS IN THE MOTHER'S BRIEF SHOULD BE STRICKEN FOR LACK OF CITATION OR SUPPORT IN THE RECORD.**

The mother's brief contains factual allegations that should be stricken for failure to cite support in the record. Facts that should be stricken are found in pages 21 through 24, where factual allegations are made regarding a June 8, 1998 telephonic hearing involving both the Juvenile Court and the Tribal Court.

Specifically, these pages make reference to a hearing cited in the mother's "Statement of the Case/Facts." (**Appellant's Brief, 5-6**). Those earlier citations are to a document stating, "On June 8<sup>th</sup>, 1998, the tribal court and juvenile courts issues [sic] stays of the proceedings pending hearing before an appeals or federal court on the issue of whether the juvenile court had any jurisdiction to enter such an order." (**R. 328**). Nothing more is revealed in that citation regarding the



purpose of the hearing, the substance of the issues addressed, or any other fact regarding what occurred at said hearing.

Notwithstanding the absence of additional facts, the mother's brief later expands on those meager references in the record and purports that

- a) the grandfather "had a fair opportunity to object and fight the issues raised by the order at the June 8, 1998 hearing;"
- b) the grandfather "was able to present his arguments;"
- c) the grandfather "had nearly a four month window in which to file pleadings before the Tribal Court to seek custody;"

Contrary to these unsupported factual allegations, the transcript contains argument that these things did not occur, but rather the grandfather was told he had no right to object to the lack of notice because he had no right to due process in the Tribal Court. The transcript indicates the grandfather was told that he already had his due process in the state court and the Tribal Court would do as it pleased. **(T. 24)**. There is absolutely no record supporting the factual assertion that the grandfather was given a hearing during the telephonic conference on the lack of notice prior to entry of the Tribal Court's May 22, 1998 order, or that he was given the opportunity to present his arguments regarding the transfer of custody. The only references in the record state otherwise—that the door was closed when the Tribal Court rejected the principle that the grandfather had due process rights in the Tribal Court in the first instance.

Regardless of the mother's position on those facts, there is no record indicating that the grandfather was given any kind of hearing to review whether the circumstances in the Tribal Court amounted to due process. There is no notice of hearing, no minute entry or transcript of the hearing supporting the mother's contentions.

The Utah Supreme Court in *Uckerman v. Lincoln Nat'l Life Ins. Co.* refused to consider any facts not properly cited to, or supported by, the record. 588 P.2d 142 (Utah 1978). Consequently, facts contained in pages 21 through 24 in the mother's brief should be stricken and not considered.

**IV. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THE MOTHER DID NOT COMPLY WITH THE FOREIGN JUDGMENT ACT AND THAT COMPLIANCE WAS A PREREQUISITE TO ISSUING THE WRIT OF ASSISTANCE.**

The Foreign Judgment Act deals with three pertinent issues: the filing and commencing of an action on a foreign judgment; the foreign judgment debtor's right to a stay; and the foreign judgment creditor's right to a lien. Because this matter relates to a child rather than a money judgment, the only relevant issue is the filing requirements:

"(1) The judgment creditor or attorney for the creditor, at the time of filing a foreign judgment, shall file an affidavit with the clerk of the district court stating the last known post-office address of the judgment debtor and the judgment creditor.

"(2) Upon the filing of a foreign judgment and affidavit, the clerk of the district court shall notify the judgment debtor that the judgment has been filed. Notice shall be sent to the address stated in the affidavit. The clerk shall record the date the notice is mailed in the register of actions."

Utah Code Ann. § 78-22a-3(1)&(2) (Emphasis added) (**Addendum, 1**).

The trial court ruled the Fort Peck Tribal Court's Order is a foreign judgment that must be filed under the Foreign Judgment Act and the mother did not comply with the statute by simply filing a Petition for Writ of Assistance:

#### CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The May 22, 1998 Order of the Fort Peck Tribal Court transferring custody from respondent to petitioner is a foreign judgment.

2. As a foreign judgment, the judgment must be filed in accordance with the Utah Foreign Judgment Act, Utah Code Ann. § 78-22a-1, et seq.

3. The Petition for Writ of Assistance does not comply with the Utah Foreign Judgment Act.  
(**Conclusions ¶ 1-3; R. 453-457; Addendum, 2-5**).

The trial court's ruling is a conclusion of law subject to the correctness Standard of Review. *Howell*, 806 P.2d at 1211; *Pendleton*, 918 P.2d at 160; *Smith*, 793 P.2d at 409. In determining the correctness of the trial court's determination, the Appellate Court decides the matter for itself and does not defer in any degree to the trial judge's determination of law. *Pena*, 869 P.2d at 935.

**A. Noncompliance with the filing requirements of the Foreign Judgment Act constitutes noncompliance with the statute.**

The trial court correctly determined that the Writ of Assistance did not comply with the Foreign Judgment Act because the mother conceded noncompliance with the filing provisions of the statute. (**Appellant's Brief, 12-**

13). The question answers itself in the mother's brief, although she attempts to argue a different issue than the one presented for review. The mother frames the first issue presented for review as, *"Did the trial court err in concluding that the Writ of Assistance did not comply with the Utah Foreign Judgment Act?"* She then concedes she did not abide by the statute's filing requirements but proceeds to argue a different issue, namely that there are alternative ways to enforce a judgment and that noncompliance with the provisions of the statute should not have resulted in dismissal of the Writ of Assistance. **(Appellant's Brief, 10-13).**

The mother's arguments in regard to alternative ways to enforce a foreign judgment should be disregarded because it is not the issue presented for review and does not affect the determination of whether the court erred in concluding that the manner in which the Writ of Assistance was filed did not comply with the statutory provisions of the Foreign Judgment Act.